Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 20-0464

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA **SUPREME COURT CAUSE NO. DA 20-0464**

JOSEPH RICHARD GOSS,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

USAA CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, and DOES A-D, Inclusive, Defendant/Appellee.

APPELLANT JOSEPH GOSS' OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District, in and for the County of Cascade, Cause No. DDV-18-0038; Honorable Gregory R. Todd

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant:

Keith D. Marr CONNER, MARR & PINSKI, PLLP P. O. Box 3028

Great Falls, MT 59403-3028 Telephone: (406) 727-3550 Facsimile: (406) 727-1640 Email: keith@mttrials.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does USAA's owned automobile exclusion, which precludes its named insured from recovering personal and portable underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages, violate Montana public policy?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The dispositive coverage question is whether Plaintiff/Appellant Joseph Richard Goss can trigger underinsured motorist and medical payments coverage under the automobile policy he purchased from USAA Casualty Insurance Company ("USAA"). At the time of the subject collision, Goss paid premiums to insure three vehicles with USAA—a Chevrolet Caprice, a Chevrolet Silverado 2500, and a Ford Taurus. However, at the time of the collision, Goss was driving a motorcycle that he owned but did not insure with USAA. See Order Granting Defendant USAA's Motion for Summary Judgment, App. A.

After the collision, Goss recovered the full liability limit from Defendant Diann Stevens' liability insurer. Goss then submitted claims for underinsured motorist coverage and medical payments coverage to USAA. USAA initially accepted coverage for Goss' claims. Approximately two years after accepting Goss' claims, USAA reversed its coverage determination and denied underinsured motorist and medical payments benefits. USAA's about face was premised on an exclusion in the policy that rejects coverage when an insured suffers bodily injury while

occupying a motor vehicle the insured owns but does not insure with USAA. App. A.

Following USAA's denial of coverage, Goss sued USAA and Stevens on January 19, 2018. Goss alleged breach of contract and declaratory relief claims against USAA. Judge John Parker was assigned to the case. On September 10, 2018, USAA filed a motion for summary judgment on the coverage issues. USAA then petitioned this Court for a writ of supervisory control regarding a discovery issue on March 5, 2019. See OP 19-0139. This Court denied USAA's Petition and lifted the stay of proceedings on April 23, 2019. Goss then took the requested Rule 30(b)(6), M.R.Civ.P., deposition of a USAA corporate representative. Goss filed his motion for summary judgment on November 22, 2019.

On July 21, 2020, Judge Parker recused himself from the case. Judge Gregory Todd accepted jurisdiction over the case on July 27, 2020. On August 31, 2020, Judge Todd issued his Order Granting Defendant USAA's Motion for Summary Judgment. See App. A. On September 21, 2020, Goss filed a Rule 41 Stipulation to Dismiss Defendant Diann Stevens, signed by all parties. Goss filed his Notice of Appeal from the District Court's summary judgment order on September 22, 2020.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 21, 2015, Goss was lawfully driving his 2002 Yamaha V Star motorcycle on 10th Avenue South in Great Falls, Montana. App. A, p. 2. At the

same time, Defendant Diann Stevens was driving in the opposite direction on 10th Avenue South in her Pontiac Torrent. App. A, p. 2. As Goss and Stevens approached the intersection of 10th Avenue South and 30th Street South, Stevens made a left turn on 30th Street South in front of Goss' motorcycle. App. A, p. 2. Goss had the right of way and was unable to avoid a collision. App. A, p. 2. His motorcycle struck the right front portion of Stevens' vehicle, causing permanent injuries and damages. App. A, p. 2. Law enforcement cited Stevens for failing to yield to hazardous traffic when making a left turn. App. A, p. 2.

At the time of the collision, Goss insured four vehicles with USAA. App. A, p. 2. Goss paid for underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages on three of the four vehicles. The motorcycle involved in the collision was not listed as a covered vehicle under the USAA Policy. App. A, p. 2.

After Stevens' automobile liability insurer paid its liability limit to Goss, Goss submitted a claim to USAA for underinsured motor benefits. App. A, p. 2. USAA initially accepted coverage under Goss' underinsured motorist coverage and advanced \$25,000 in benefits. App. A, p. 2. USAA later reconsidered its coverage determination and denied underinsured motorist benefits under Goss' policy. App. A, p. 2.

The underinsured motorist coverage portion of the USAA policy provides:

We will pay compensatory damages which a covered person is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an underinsured motor vehicle because of [bodily injury] sustained by a covered person and caused by an auto accident.

App. A, p. 3. An "underinsured motor vehicle" means "a land motor vehicle or trailer of any type to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident but the amount paid for [bodily injury] under that bond or policy to a covered person is not enough to pay the full amount the covered person is legally entitled to recover as damages." Plaintiff's Statement of Undisputed Material Facts, App. B, ¶ 10. There is no dispute that Goss is a covered person under the USAA policy and the collision and damages at issue were caused by Stevens, the owner or operator of an underinsured motor vehicle. App. B, ¶ 11.

However, in reversing its initial acceptance of coverage, USAA claimed Goss' underinsured motorist coverage did not apply because he was operating a vehicle he owned but did not insure through USAA. USAA relied on Exclusion B for this proposition:

We do not provide [underinsured motorist] Coverage for [bodily injury] sustained by any covered person while occupying, or when struck by, any motor vehicle owned by you or any family member which is not insured for [underinsured motorist coverage] under this policy.

App. B, ¶ 13.

As for the medical payments coverage, the policy provides USAA:

[W]ill pay only the reasonable fee for medically necessary and appropriate medical services and the reasonable expense for funeral services because of [bodily injury] caused by an auto accident, sustained by a covered person and incurred for services rendered within three years of the date of the accident.

App. A, p. 2. A "covered person" under the medical payments coverage means:

- 1. You or any family member while occupying your covered auto.
- 2. Any other person while occupying your covered auto.
- 3. You or any family member while occupying any of the following vehicles if they are not your covered auto:
 - a. A private passenger auto or trailer;
 - b. A moving truck or moving van, but only for your personal use while in the custody of or being operated by you or a family member; or
 - c. a miscellaneous vehicle having at least four wheels.

App. A, p. 3. Finally, the medical payments coverage contains the following exclusion:

We do not provide benefits under this Part for any covered person for [bodily injury]:

- 1. Sustained while occupying any vehicle that is not your covered auto unless that vehicle is:
 - a. A four or six wheel land motor vehicle designed for use on public roads with a rated load capacity of no more than 2000 pounds;
 - b. A moving van for personal use;
 - c. A miscellaneous vehicle having at least four wheels; or
 - d. A vehicle used in the business of farming or ranching.

App. A, p. 3.

Goss filed this lawsuit on January 19, 2018. With respect to USAA, Goss sought a declaratory judgment that coverage exists under the underinsured motorist and medical payments portions of the USAA Policy. Goss further asserted a breach of contract claim against USAA. App. B, ¶ 8.

The parties ultimately filed cross motions for summary judgment. On August 31, 2020, the District Court granted USAA's motion for summary judgment and denied Goss' motion for summary judgment. App. A, p. 11. On September 21, 2020, Goss filed a Rule 41 stipulation, signed by counsel for all parties, dismissing Stevens. Rule 41 Stipulation to Dismiss Defendant Diann Stevens, App. C. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews summary judgment rulings *de novo*. *Wendell v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 1999 MT 17, ¶ 9, 293 Mont. 140, 974 P.2d 623. The interpretation of an insurance policy implicates questions of law. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Wagner-Ellsworth*, 2008 MT 240, ¶ 8, 344 Mont. 445, 188 P.3d 1042. This Court reviews a district court's conclusions of law to determine whether the conclusions are correct. *Allstate Ins. Co.*, ¶ 7.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Goss, the named insured under the USAA automobile policy, paid valuable consideration to USAA for underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages. This Court has held that underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages are personal and portable. That means the coverages follow insured persons, not insured vehicles. As such, named insureds who pay premiums for these personal and portable coverages can recover these benefits whether they are "injured in an owned

vehicle named in the policy, <u>in an owned vehicle not named in the policy</u>, in an unowned vehicle, <u>on a motorcycle</u>, on a bicycle, whether afoot or on horseback or even on a pogo stick." *Jacobson v. Implement Dealers Mut. Ins. Co.*, 196 Mont. 542, 547-48, 640 P.2d 908, 912 (1982) (emphasis added).

Goss suffered permanent and disabling injuries in the collision in May 2015. He insured several vehicles with USAA at the time of the collision. He paid separate premiums to USAA for underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages. Consistent with Montana's personal and portable case law, Goss filed a claim with USAA for underinsured motorist and medical payments benefits. After initially accepting coverage, USAA now rejects coverage pursuant to an owned automobile exclusion. Because Goss owned the motorcycle, but did not insure it with USAA, USAA now denies Goss' claim for underinsured motorist and medical payments benefits.

This Court has not considered the owned automobile exclusion under the facts presented. However, this Court has repeatedly affirmed that (1) personal and portable coverages travel with the named insured and do not depend on the insured occupying a vehicle named in the policy and (2) an insurer may not place in an insurance policy a provision that defeats coverage for which it has received valuable consideration. It makes no difference whether a coverage inquiry like this implicates mandatory insurance coverage (liability and uninsured motorist coverage) or

optional insurance coverage (underinsured motorist and medical payments coverage).

This Court has carved out two narrow exceptions to the foregoing rules. First, a person must qualify as an insured under the policy to trigger the benefits of personal and portable coverages. Second, to avoid collusive claims among family members, this Court has upheld family member exclusions which except vehicles "owned by or furnished for the regular use of you or any family member" from the definition of an underinsured motor vehicle. Aside from these two narrowly tailored circumstances, this Court has steadfastly rejected limitations on personal and portable coverages.

The two unique exceptions to coverage do not apply here. Goss is the named insured under the USAA policy who paid premiums for the personal and portable coverages. Goss did not suffer the collision-related injuries at the hands of a family member or vehicle owned by a family member. As such, Goss' personal and portable underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages traveled with him on the day of the collision. Application of USAA's owned automobile exclusion to deny Goss the personal and portable coverages he purchased violates Montana public policy. The exclusion is, therefore, unenforceable.

ARGUMENT

I. Does USAA's owned automobile exclusion, which precludes its named insured from recovering personal and portable underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages, violate Montana public policy?

This Court has long recognized underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages as personal and portable to the named insured. This case contemplates whether an automobile insurer can unilaterally alter the fundamental nature of these personal and portable coverages, despite receiving valuable consideration for the coverages from the named insured. The District Court's summary judgment ruling upends the bedrock principles of personal and portable coverages and Montana's public policy considerations underlying the same. This Court should reverse the District Court's ruling and hold that USAA's owned automobile exclusion is unenforceable under the facts presented.

Insurance provisions are unenforceable if they violate Montana public policy or contravene good morals. *Fisher ex rel. McCartney v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 2013 MT 208, ¶ 25, 371 Mont. 147, 305 P.3d 861. As a general rule, the Legislature prescribes Montana's public policy through statutory enactment. *Fisher ex rel. McCartney*, ¶ 25. However, this Court has also voided insurance provisions as against public policy when they undermine judicially recognized doctrines. *Fisher ex rel. McCartney*, ¶ 33. In particular, the Court has voided provisions that

render coverage illusory by defeating coverage for which the insurer has received valuable consideration. *Fisher ex rel. McCartney*, ¶ 33.

With the foregoing as a backdrop, this Court has routinely enforced two fundamental principles in the field of automobile insurance:

- An insurer may not place in an insurance policy a provision that defeats coverage for which it has received valuable consideration (*Bennett v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 261 Mont. 386, 389, 862 P.2d 1146, 1148 (1993)); and
- Underinsured motorist coverage and medical payments coverage are, by definition, personal and portable—i.e., coverage does not depend on the named insured occupying an insured vehicle. (*Hardy v. Progressive Specialty Ins. Co.*, 2003 MT 85, ¶¶ 40, 44, 315 Mont. 107, 67 P.3d 892; *Bennett*, 261 Mont. at 389, 862 P.2d at 1148; *Farmers Alliance Mut. Ins. Co. v. Holeman*, 1998 MT 155, 289 Mont. 312, 961 P.2d 114).

This appeal pits these elemental tenets, and their public policy underpinnings, against insurance policy exclusions which undermine the essence of first party, portable coverage. This Court should reverse the District Court and find the exclusions unenforceable as a matter of law.

A. USAA Received Valuable Consideration

Goss paid USAA valuable consideration for personal and portable underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages. Applying the exclusion USAA advocates would strip Goss of the insurance coverages he purchased and reasonably expected.

Unlike cases which trigger coverage for nonparties to an insurance contract, Goss is the named insured under the USAA policy. App. B, ¶ 18. Goss paid premiums to USAA for the underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages. App. B, ¶ 19. He paid three separate underinsured motorist and medical payments premiums for three automobiles listed on the USAA Policy. App. B, ¶ 20. The USAA Policy provides up to \$300,000.00 in underinsured motorist coverage and \$5,000 in medical payments coverage for each vehicle. App. B, ¶ 21 (see also App. B, p. 69). So, according to USAA, if Goss was hurt by an underinsured motorist while driving one of the vehicles identified in the USAA Policy, Goss would be entitled to stack his coverage, and recover up to \$900,000.00 in underinsured motorist coverage, even though he did not occupy two of the three vehicles at the time of the collision. App. B, ¶ 22. Similarly, Goss is entitled to stack his medical payments coverage for up to \$15,000 in medical payments benefits.

USAA does not dispute that Goss paid valuable consideration for the underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages. Yet, the exclusions at issue defeat coverage despite USAA's receipt of the valuable consideration. This runs afoul of the personal and portable nature of underinsured motorist and medical payments coverages.

B. Personal and Portable Insurance Coverage

This case involves injuries to a named insured who paid valuable consideration to USAA for underinsured motorist and medical payments coverage. In this context—injury to a named insured—this Court has rejected vehicle occupancy as the barometer for recovering underinsured motorist and medical payments benefits.

Over forty years ago, this Court considered whether uninsured motorist coverage is tied to an insured vehicle or an insured person. In *Chaffee v. United States Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, 181 Mont. 1, 591 P.2d 1102 (1979), Chaffee insured three vehicles with USF&G. Chaffee paid separate premiums for uninsured motorist coverage on each of his vehicles. Chaffee's son, also considered an insured under the policy, ultimately died in an automobile accident. The son did not occupy one of Chaffee's insured automobiles at the time of the accident. USF&G conceded that it owed one of the uninsured limits but denied that it had to pay the limit on the second and third vehicles. It raised a variation of the argument USAA asserts—the insured could not recover the uninsured motorist coverage on the second and third vehicles under the policy because he did not occupy them at the time of the crash.

This Court rejected the occupancy notion, concluding:

The concept of uninsured motorist coverage although issued with the liability policy is not dependent on insured's negligence or that the insured occupy a vehicle named in the insured's policy to recover for the insured loss. An attempted reduction of coverage of this kind

simply takes the heart out of the policy and erodes the coverage to a point of no value

Chaffee, 181 Mont. at 6, 591 P.2d at 1104. The Court agreed with the Washington Supreme Court that "[u]ninsured motorist coverage is not dependent on the insured occupying a vehicle named in the policy." Rather, uninsured motorist coverage protects and travels with the insured, not the vehicle. *Chaffee*, 181 Mont. at 7, 591 P.2d at 1105.

Three years later, this Court revisited the personal and portable nature of uninsured motorist coverage in the face of the same exclusion at issue here. In *Jacobson*, Harlan died in a motor vehicle accident while driving a tractor-trailer unit. Harlan had uninsured motorist coverage on a 1971 Ford pickup truck which he owned. However, the Ford truck was not involved in the accident. When Harlan's personal representative made a claim for the uninsured motorist coverage on the Ford truck, the insurer denied the claim. The insurer denied coverage based on an exclusion which said the policy did not apply to bodily injury to an insured while occupying an automobile owned by the named insured, other than an insured automobile. *Jacobson*, 196 Mont. at 543-44, 640 P.2d at 909-10. This is the same exclusion at issue in this case.

This Court held that the exclusion violated Montana public policy:

There is no requirement that the insured be occupying an insured vehicle. Therefore, there is no connection between the insured and the automobile listed on the policy. The named automobile merely

illustrates that the person has satisfied the legal requirement of purchasing insurance and has uninsured motorist coverage unless expressly waived. Montana's uninsured motorist coverage is personal and portable. This point was exemplified by the court in *Bradley v. Mid-Century Ins. Co.*, (1980), 409 Mich. 1, 294 N.W.2d 141, when it held:

"We conclude that once uninsured motorist coverage is purchased, the insured and his relatives insured for liability have uninsured motorist protection under all circumstances. Uninsured motorist coverage, like no-fault coverage, is personal and portable.

"...They are insured when injured in an owned vehicle named in the policy, in an owned vehicle not named in the policy, in an unowned vehicle, on a motorcycle, on a bicycle, whether afoot or on horseback or even on a pogo stick."

Jacobsen, 196 Mont. at 547-48, 640 P.2d at 912 (emphasis added).

Chaffee and Jacobson involved <u>uninsured</u> motorist coverage, not <u>underinsured</u> motorist coverage. However, this Court extended the same personal and portable logic to the underinsured motorist coverage paradigm in *Bennett*.

Therein, Bennett was a pedestrian who was hit by a truck while crossing the street. Bennett recovered the full liability limit from the tortfeasor's insurer. At the time of the incident, Bennett had underinsured motorist coverage on two separate State Farm policies. State Farm paid one of the limits but refused to pay the second limit. This Court began its analysis by noting Montana's public policy "that an insurer may not place in an insurance policy a provision that defeats coverage for which the insurer has received valuable consideration." *Bennett*, 261 Mont. at 389,

862 P.2d at 1148. State Farm argued that this public policy principle applied solely to uninsured motorist coverage because of the statutory requirement that insurers offer that coverage to all insureds. Because no such statutory requirement exists regarding underinsured motorist coverage, State Farm argued the above public policy consideration did not apply. This Court rejected State Farm's attempted distinction:

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