Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 20-0464

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Case No. DA 20-0464

JOSEPH RICHARD GOSS,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

USAA CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, and DOES A-D, Inclusive,

Defendant and Appellee.

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District, In and for the County of Cascade, Cause No. DDV-18-0038; Honorable Gregory R. Todd, Presiding

Appearances:

Keith D. Marr Conner, Marr, Pinski, PLLP P.O. Box 3028 Great Falls, MT 59403-3028 (406) 727-3550 keith@mttrials.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary judgment was appropriately granted to USAA CIC. The Order Granting Defendant USAA's Motion for Summary Judgment set out the applicable authority and contains a well-reasoned analysis. (*See* Goss App. A). Goss seeks coverage under the Policy where none exists. First, the Policy clearly excludes UIM coverage when occupying any motor vehicle owned by the policyholder which is not insured for UIM under the USAA CIC policy. Here, the motorcycle was not insured under the policy. Second, the Policy also excludes Medical Payments coverage when occupying a vehicle, such as Goss' motorcycle, that does not have at least four wheels.

Goss mistakenly relies on various cases addressing uninsured motorist coverage and stacking issues which are not pertinent to the analysis in this case.

Contrary to Goss' position, the exclusions found in the Policy are not a violation of Montana public policy. Moreover, Goss did not insure his motorcycle with USAA CIC. While his motorcycle was insured with another carrier, Goss failed to obtain UIM and Medical Payments coverage from the other carrier.

//

//

ARGUMENT

I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS APPROPRIATELY GRANTED TO USAA CIC GIVEN THE EXCLUSIONS IN THE POLICY.

Summary judgment is properly regarded as an integral part of the rules of procedure as a whole, which are designed to secure "the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action." Rule 1, M.R.Civ.P.; *see also Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 327 (1986) (discussing application of Fed.R.Civ.P. 56, which is nearly identical to M.R.Civ.P. 56). Rule 56 must be construed with due regard, not only to the rights of the plaintiff asserting claims, but also to the rights of persons, such as USAA CIC here, to demonstrate in the manner provided by the rules that Goss' claims have no factual basis. *See e.g. Celotex*, 477 U.S. at 327.

Rule 56 of the Montana Rules of Civil Procedure initially requires the moving party to prove no genuine issues of material fact exist based on the pleadings, discovery, affidavits, and depositions in order for the court to grant summary judgment. "Summary judgment 'shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there are no genuine issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Brewer v. Hawkinson*, 2009 MT 346, ¶ 19, 353 Mont. 154, ¶ 19, 221 P.3d 643, ¶ 19 (citing M.R.Civ.P. 56(c)). *See also Vettel–Becker v. Deaconess Medical Center*, 2008

MT 51, ¶ 26, 341 Mont. 435, 177 P.3d 1034. "Once the moving party has met its burden, the opposing party must present material and substantial evidence, rather than mere conclusory or speculative statements, to raise a genuine issue of material fact." *Sullivan v. Contl. Constr. of Mont., LLC*, 2013 MT 106, ¶ 14, 370 Mont. 8, 299 P.3d 832 (see also Bruner v. Yellowstone County, 272 Mont. 261, 264, 900 P.2d 901, 903 (1995)). The non-moving party must offer more than mere denial or speculative statements to raise a genuine issue of material fact. *Bruner*, 272 Mont. at 264, 900 P.2d at 903. After determining no genuine factual issues exist, the court must determine whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id*.

In the case at hand, the parties agreed there were no genuine issues of material fact, as evidenced by the competing motions for summary judgment. If no genuine issues of material fact exist, it must then be determined whether the facts actually entitle the moving party to judgment as a matter of law. *Lorang v. Fortis*, 2008 MT 252, ¶ 39, 345 Mont. 12, 192 P.3d 186 (citing M.R. Civ. P. 56(c)). Thus, the only question before the District Court was which party was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The District Court correctly held USAA CIC was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

//

//

A. Goss Is Not Entitled To UIM Under The Policy Based Upon The Applicable Exclusions.

The interpretation of an insurance contract is a question of law for the court to resolve. *Pablo v. Moore*, 2000 MT 48, ¶12, 298 Mont. 393, 995 P.2d 460. Under Montana law, insurance policy provisions are interpreted "according to their usual, common sense meaning as viewed from the perspective of a reasonable consumer of insurance products." Stutzman v. Safeco Ins. CO. of Am., 284 Mont. 372, 376, 945 P.2d 32, 34 (1997). If an ambiguity exists, it will be strictly construed against the insurer, and the court must interpret any doubts as to coverage in favor of the insured. Stutzman, 284 Mont. at 379, 945 P.2d at 36; Wendell v. St. Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 1999 MT 17, ¶¶ 14-15, 293 Mont. 140, 974 P.2d 623; Counterpoint, Inc. v. Essex Ins. Co., 1998 MT 251, ¶ 13, 291 Mont. 189, 967 P.2d 393. However, absent any ambiguity, the language of an insurance contract governs its interpretation. Stutzman, 284 Mont. at 379, 945 P.2d at 36 (concluding that the court must enforce the insurance contract as written if its language is clear and explicit).

Here, Goss does not argue any ambiguity exists. Rather, his only argument is the exclusions contained in the Policy violated Montana public policy, despite his knowledge USAA CIC did not afford insurance coverage in Montana for motorcycles. Goss' position is based upon distinguishable cases, which deal primarily with uninsured motorist coverage and stacking issues, which are not at

issue here. Unlike uninsured motorist coverage, an insurer is not required by statutory mandate to offer underinsured motorist coverage to a potential insured. *See Bennett v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 758 F.Supp. 1388, 1390 (D. Mont. 1991)(citing *State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. Estate of Braun*, 243 Mont. 125, 793 P.2d 253 (1990)).

Montana courts first look to the policy's plain language when construing and analyzing the terms of an insurance policy. *Stutzman*, 284 Mont. at 379, 945 P.2d at 36. After construing the language of the policy itself, courts next look at whether the insurance contract violates public policy. *Id*.

1. The plain language of the Policy excludes coverage for Goss under UIM.

The Policy issued to Goss plainly excludes UIM coverage to Goss when he is occupying any motor vehicle he owned, but which was not insured for UIM under the USAA CIC Policy. (Doc. No. 39, pp. 2-3). Goss clearly owned the motorcycle involved in the May 12, 2015 accident, but he clearly did not insure it with USAA CIC. (Goss App. A, p. 2; Doc. 19, p. 2). Instead, Goss' motorcycle was insured through Progressive. (USAA App. D, p. 47, ll. 8-15).

Based upon the plain language of the Policy, Goss is not entitled to UIM coverage while he was occupying his motorcycle. Quite simply, Goss owned the motorcycle, but did not insure it with USAA CIC. Thus, the plain and

unambiguous language clearly excludes UIM coverage for Goss under the Policy based upon the facts of this particular accident.

2. The Policy does not violate Montana public policy.

Goss continues to argue the exclusion in the Policy violates Montana public policy and is unenforceable. However, Goss mistakenly relies on various cases addressing uninsured motorist coverage and stacking issues not at issue in his claim against USAA CIC. Further, Goss makes the same arguments before this Court which were rejected by the district court.

As set forth above, the Policy excludes UIM coverage when occupying any motor vehicle owned by the policyholder which is not insured for UIM under the Policy. This is commonly known as the "owned vehicle" exclusion. Uninsured motorist ("UM") coverage is not treated like UIM coverage. *See Bennett*, 758 F.Supp. at 1390. Importantly, Goss did not pay for coverage for his motorcycle from USAA CIC, and he knew USAA CIC did not offer coverage in Montana. (*See* USAA App. D., p. 46, l. 25 through p. 47, l. 15).

Contrary to Goss' misguided arguments, the crux of this case deals with an issue of settled law in Montana; namely, the "owned vehicle" exclusion. This Court, as well as United States District Courts for the State of Montana, have continually held "owned vehicle" exclusions are not against Montana public policy nor contrary to the reasonable expectations of the insured.

This Court addressed an owned vehicle exclusion in *Monroe v. Cogswell Agency*, 2010 MT 134, 356 Mont. 417, 234 P.3d 79. There, the plaintiffs were involved in an accident while traveling as passengers in their vehicle, which their daughter-in-law, Laura, was driving. *Monroe*, ¶ 6. The plaintiffs and Laura were insured by Safeco, with separate policies. *Monroe*, ¶ 7. Safeco paid out \$480,000 to plaintiffs under the bodily injury liability and medical payment benefits of the policies. *Monroe*, ¶¶ 7-8. However, plaintiffs then sought declaratory judgment for coverage under the UIM provisions of the insurance policies. *Monroe*, ¶ 8.

The policies defined an underinsured motor vehicle and then excluded from the definition any vehicle owned by or furnished for the regular use of you or any family member. *Monroe*, ¶ 16. This Court held the plain language of the policy clearly excluded the plaintiffs' vehicles from the definition of an underinsured motor vehicle. *Monroe*, ¶ 17. However, this Court then considered whether the exclusion violated public policy. *Id*.

Plaintiffs first argued the coverage was illusory. *Monroe*, ¶ 18. However, this Court disagreed. While the policy language makes UIM coverage unavailable for single car crashes that only involve the insured's own vehicle, UIM coverage is available in all other accidents so long as the accident involves another vehicle that is not owned by the insured. *Monroe*, ¶ 19. "In fact, the only instance in which the 'owned vehicle' exclusion renders UIM coverage per se unavailable is when the

accident only involves the insured's own vehicle." *Id*. Thus, far from being illusory, plaintiffs' contention that they paid valuable consideration for non-existent UIM coverage was unfounded and therefore the provisions did not violate public policy. *Id*.

Similar to *Monroe*, the language in the Policy here makes UIM coverage unavailable for accidents that involve Goss' own vehicle which is not insured by USAA CIC. As Goss painstakingly provides in his opening brief, just as he did in the underlying case, UIM coverage is available in all other accidents so long as the accident involves a vehicle that is not owned by the insured. In fact, the only instance in which the exclusion at issue renders UIM coverage unavailable is when the accident involves the insured's own vehicle which is not insured by USAA CIC. However, Goss misses the point of the owned vehicle exclusion when he argues it makes no sense. (Opening Brief, p. 22). Contrary to his argument, the exclusion makes absolute sense, otherwise consumers would simply choose not to purchase UIM coverage for more than one of the vehicles they own. Accordingly, just as in *Monroe*, the provisions do not violate public policy, as Goss did not pay valuable consideration for UIM coverage for his motorcycle.

This Court also addressed a "no coverage" provision in *Lierboe v. State*Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 2003 MT 174, 316 Mont. 382, 73 P.3d 800. While

Lierboe dealt with medical payments coverage, Goss would apply the same

analysis of UIM and Medical Payments coverage when considering his claim. In Lierboe, the plaintiff was involved in a motor vehicle accident while driving her 1986 Jeep Cherokee, which was insured by State Farm. Lierboe, ¶ 7. The plaintiff also had an interest in a corporation, Shining Mountain, which had an automobile insurance policy for a 1991 Dodge Dakota. *Lierboe*, ¶ 8. The Dodge policy included an exclusion, which provided there was no coverage for medical expenses sustained while occupying a vehicle owned by the insured which was not insured under the Dodge policy. Lierboe, ¶ 12. This Court held the plaintiff misconceived the insurance policies at issue and her accident was only covered by the Jeep policy and was not covered by the Dodge policy. Lierboe, ¶ 19. Specifically, the no coverage provision "clearly expresses the intention to limit coverage to injuries caused by the insured vehicle or vehicles." *Lierboe*, ¶ 16 (citing *Hempen v. State* Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 687 S.W.2d 894, 895 (Mo. 1985)). This Court further held coverage was excluded under the Dodge policy because the plaintiff did not occupy the vehicle covered by that policy. Lierboe, ¶ 22. Further, the plaintiff did not have reasonable expectations of coverage under the Dodge policy as she did not qualify as an insured. *Id*.

Here, Goss likewise cannot have a reasonable expectation of UIM coverage.

Aside from the fact Goss knew USAA CIC did not insure motorcycles in Montana,
the policy language is clear and unambiguous – coverage is not afforded to Goss if

he is injured while occupying a vehicle he owns but which is not insured for UIM by USAA CIC. It is undisputed Goss owned the 2002 Yamaha motorcycle and undisputed he did not insure the motorcycle for UIM with USAA CIC.

Accordingly, just as the plaintiff in *Lierboe*, Goss could not have a reasonable expectation of UIM coverage for his motorcycle under the Policy.

Additionally, the United State District Court for the State of Montana addressed an almost identical situation in *O'Connell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 43 F.Supp.3d 1093 (D. Mont. 2014). In *O'Connell*, the plaintiffs were involved in a motor vehicle accident while driving their 2005 Yamaha Star motorcycle. *O'Connell*, 43 F.Supp.3d at 1095. At the time of the accident, plaintiffs were insured with Liberty Mutual; however, the policy only covered three automobiles and did not cover their motorcycle. *Id.* Plaintiffs made a claim for UIM coverage under the Liberty Mutual policy. *Id.* Liberty Mutual denied the UIM claim, relying on a policy exclusion which excluded UIM coverage for bodily injury sustained while occupying "any motor vehicle you own which is not insured for this coverage under this policy." *O'Connell*, 43 F.Supp.3d at 1096. Thus, plaintiffs filed suit to determine whether coverage existed.

While the parties' main argument was regarding the ambiguity of the term "motor vehicle," Judge Molloy held the "owned vehicle" exclusion to UIM coverage does not defeat the reasonable expectations of insureds and did not

violate public policy. O'Connell, 43 F.Supp.3d at 1099 (citing Hamilton v. Trinity Universal Ins. Co., 465 F.Supp.2d 1060, 1065-67 (D. Mont. 2006)). Thus, plaintiff's arguments to the contrary were unpersuasive. *Id*.

Here, just as in *O'Connell*, the Policy covers multiple automobiles, but not Goss' motorcycle. Further, the exclusion for an owned vehicle is almost identical, as USAA CIC will not provide UIM coverage for bodily injury sustained by any covered person while occupying any motor vehicle owned by the insured which is not insured for UIM under the Policy. Accordingly, just as in *O'Connell* and the district court, this Court should hold the "owned vehicle" exclusion to UIM coverage is not against public policy or contrary to the reasonable expectations of the insured.

Further, in the *Hamilton* case, plaintiff was involved in a motor vehicle accident in a 1988 Toyota pickup and sought UIM coverage from Trinity Universal Insurance Company. *Hamilton*, 465 F.Supp.2d at 1061-1062. However, the 1988 Toyota was not listed on the Trinity policy. *Hamilton*, 465 F.Supp.2d at 1062. Thus, Trinity relied on the "owned vehicle exclusion" in the policy, which excluded coverage when sustained while occupying a motor vehicle owned by the insured which was not insured for UIM coverage under the Trinity policy. *Id*. Plaintiff argued the exclusion was void as against public policy. Notably, the plaintiff in *Hamilton* relied on the same cases Goss relies on here; namely

Jacobson v. Implement Dealers Mutual Insurance Co., 196 Mont. 542, 640 P.2d 908 (1982), Bennett v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 261 Mont. 386, 862 P.2d 1146 (1993), and Hardy v. Progressive Specialty Insurance Company, 315 Mont. 107, 67 P.3d 892 (2003).

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